
Michelle Morris, 
Managing Director / Rheolwr Gyfarwyddwr 

 
T: 01495 356139 Ext./Est: 6139 
 
E: committee.services@blaenau-gwent.gov.uk 
 
Contact:/Cysylltwch â: Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 

 

 
 

 

 
 

THIS IS A MEETING WHICH THE PUBLIC ARE ENTITLED TO ATTEND 

 
Dydd Gwener, 19 Tachwedd 2021 Dydd Gwener, 19 Tachwedd 2021 
 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
PWLLGOR CYNLLUNIO, RHEOLEIDDIO A THRWYDDEDU 
 
A meeting of the Pwllgor Cynllunio, Rheoleiddio a Thrwyddedu will be held in 
Siambr y Cyngor, Canolfan Ddinesig on Dydd Mercher, 24ain Tachwedd, 2021 
at 2.00 pm. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 

 
 
Michelle Morris  
Managing Director 
 
AGENDA Pages 
 
1.   CYFIEITHU AR Y PRYD 

 
 

 Mae croeso i chi ddefnyddio’r Gymraeg yn y cyfarfod, 
ond mae angen o leiaf 3 diwrnod gwaith o hysbysiad 
ymlaen llaw os dymunwch wneud hynny. Darperir 
gwasanaeth cyfieithu ar y pryd os gwneir cais. 
 

 

2.   YMDDIHEURIADAU 
 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

 

 Derbyn ymddiheuriadau. 
 

 

3.   DATGANIADAU BUDDIANT A GODDEFEBAU 
 

 

 Ystyried unrhyw ddatganiadau buddiant a goddefebau a 
wnaed. 
 

 

4.   C/2021/0179 – CWRT GLANYRAFON A THIR 
CYFAGOS. SAFLE TAI GWARCHOD BLAENOROL 
YN HEOL RHANDIR, GLYNEBWY, NP23 5NS 
 

5 - 38 

 Ystyried adroddiad y Rheolwr Gwasanaeth 
Gwasanaethau Datblygu.  
 

 

5.   C/2020/0209 - 53 LÔN LLARWYDD, TREDEGAR 
 

39 - 46 

 Ystyried adroddiad y Swyddog Cynllunio Rheoli 
Datblygu.  
 

 

6.   APELIADAU, YMGYNGHORIADAU A DIWEDDARIAD 
DNS, TACHWEDD 2021 
 

47 - 48 

 Ystyried adroddiad y Rheolwr Gwasanaeth Datblygu a 
Stadau  
 

 

7.   RHESTR CEISIADAU A BENDERFYNWYD DAN 
BWERAU DIRPRWYEDIG RHWNG 18 HYDREF 2021 
A 8 TACHWEDD 2021 
 

49 - 54 

 Ystyried adroddiad yr Uwch Swyddog Cymorth Busnes. 
 

 

 
To: D. Hancock (Cadeirydd) 

W. Hodgins (Is-gadeirydd) 
D. Bevan 
G. L. Davies 
M. Day 
J. Hill 
C. Meredith 
K. Pritchard 
K. Rowson 
T. Smith 
B. Thomas 
G. Thomas 
D. Wilkshire 
B. Willis 

Page 2



 

 

L. Winnett 
 

 All other Members (for information) 
Manager Director 
Chief Officers 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



  Report author: Steve Smith 
Date: 11th November 2021 

 

 
 

 
 

BLAENAU GWENT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Report to: Planning, Regulatory & General Licensing 
Committee 

Report Subject: 
 

Application: C/2021/0179 
 
Site: Glanyrafon Court and adjacent grounds, Site of 
former sheltered housing at Allotment Road, Ebbw 
Vale, NP23 5NS 
 
Proposal: Construction of 15 residential dwellings 
with a new road, car parking, gardens, hard and 
soft landscaped areas 

Report Author: 
 

Service Manager Development Services 

Directorate: 
 

Regeneration and Community Services 

Date of meeting: 
 

24th November 2021 

 

1.0 Purpose of Report 
1.1 
 
 
 
 
 
1.2 
 
 
 
1.3 
 
 
1.4 
 
1.5 
 

This planning report is being presented to members to make a 
decision in relation to the planning application for the proposed 
‘Construction of 15 residential dwellings with a new road, car 
parking, gardens, hard and soft landscaped areas’ at the above 
site. 
 
The appended officers report was discussed at the 4th November 
2021 meeting of the Planning Committee where Members raised 
concern regarding the loss of open space.   
 
It was resolved to defer making a decision until Members had 
undertaken a fact finding site visit.   
 
The site visit took place on Wednesday 24th November 2021.   
 
Officer recommendation remains as per the appended report, 
that planning permission be granted subject to conditions. 
 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
Planning Report 

 
Application 
No: 

C/2021/0179 App Type: Full  

Applicant: Agent: 
Tai Calon  
Solis One 
Griffin Lane 
Rising Sun Industrial Estate 
Abertillery 
NP13 3JW 

Mr Jonathan Pritchard 
Stride Treglown 
Treglown Court 
Dowlais Road 
Cardiff 
United Kingdom 
CF24 5LQ 

Site Address: 
Glanyrafon Court and adjacent grounds, Site of former sheltered housing at 
Allotment Road, Ebbw Vale,  NP23 5NS 
Development: 
Construction of 15 residential dwellings with a new road, car parking, gardens, hard 
and soft landscaped areas. 
Case Officer: Steve Smith 

 

 
 

Page 7



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
 

1. Background, Development and Site Context 
1.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Full planning permission is sought for residential development on the site of 
the former Glan yr Afon Court housing site and an area of adjoining 
undeveloped grassland to the southeast.  The developable area is limited to 
the land within the redline boundary. The proposed residential development 
would provide 15 affordable units and comprise of one and two storey 
buildings in the form of a mixture of flats, short terrace of bungalows and 
semi-detached houses. The proposed bungalows and ground floor flats 
would be designed to accommodate wheelchair access in order to meet the 
needs of potential residents with limited mobility. The number of house types 
are split as follows: 
 

• 3no. 2 bedroom bungalows; 
• 4no. 1 bedroom flats; 
• 4no. 2 bedroom houses; and 
• 4no. 3 bedroom houses. 

 
The proposed residential development has been orientated so that it 
primarily fronts on to the new internal access road. The proposed bungalows 
and semi-detached houses would be located on the south-western and 
north-eastern sides of the internal road respectively, while the proposed flats 
would be located at the south-eastern end adjacent to the new vehicular 
turning head. The existing footpath that links Cambridge Gardens and Ebbw 
View to Allotment Road would be redirected around the side and rear of the 
proposed flats, and the existing public green spaces to the sides and rear of 
the proposed residential buildings would be enhanced through tree, shrub 
and wildflower planting (see Figures 1, 2 and 3 below).  The footpath will be 
open for public use.  
 
The existing vehicular access which previously served the former sheltered 
housing at Glan yr Afon Court would be utilised as the main access into the 
residential development. A total of 22 off-street car parking spaces are 
proposed which are generally located to the front of the residential buildings. 
 
 
 

Page 8



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
1.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 1 – Proposed Site Layout  
 

 
          Figures 2 – Site Sections 
 

Page 9



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
1.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

           
          Figure 3 – landscaping arrangement 

 
The application site comprises of a broadly rectangular parcel of land 
measuring approximately 0.8ha in area. The north-western part of the site 
comprises of brownfield land which previously accommodated the former 
sheltered housing complex at Glan yr Afon Court. Whilst the latter has now 
been demolished, the tarmac surfaced car parking area on the northern part 
of the site remains in place along with some other minor infrastructure. From 
this upper part of the site, the land slopes gently down to a slightly lower area 
of amenity grassland with some trees along the fringes. This area of 
greenfield land predominantly characterises the central and south-eastern 
part of the site and is crossed by a number of footpaths.   
 
Whilst the level changes within the main part of the site are not significant, 
the land does rise steeply to Allotment Road, which bounds the south-
western boundary of the site. The land also slopes steeply down to the River 
Ebbw which bounds the north-eastern boundary. On the other side of the 
river lie the residential properties of Cambridge Gardens and Ebbw View. 
The north-eastern boundary of the site adjoins business and commercial 
uses, while the south-eastern boundary adjoins the remaining amenity 
grassland and footpath area which continues to follow the bank of the river 
down towards the residential area of Glanyrafon. The application site is also 
largely open to the surrounding area, with existing boundary treatments only 
evident in the northern corner of the site (metal palisade fencing) and along 
a section of the north-eastern boundary (low brick wall) separating the 
former Glan yr Afon site and the bank of the River Ebbw. 

Page 10



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
 
1.9 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.10 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
In addition to the detailed plans showing the proposed site layout and floor 
plans/elevations of the proposed houses, the applicant has submitted 
supporting information which includes hard and soft landscaping plans, a 
Planning, Design and Access Statement, a Tree Survey, an Arboricultural 
Impact Assessment, an Ecology Report and Ecology Update Letter, a 
Drainage Strategy and Flood Risk Assessment, an Intrusive Mining Risk 
Assessment Report, a Remediation Strategy Report and a Geotechnical 
Letter Report. 
 
The applicant also undertook statutory pre-application consultation prior to 
the submission of the planning application, which included publicising a draft 
of the proposed residential development and consultation with the 
community and specialist consultees, including ward members. A Pre-
Application Consultation Report has been submitted with the planning 
application. 
 

2. Site History 
 Ref No 

 
Details Decision 

2.1 C/2019/0027 
 

Prior notification of the proposed demolition 
of 1-29 Glan yr Afon Court 

Confirmation of 
requirement for 
prior approval 
given on 29th 
February 2019 

3. Consultation and Other Relevant Information 
3.1 
3.2 
 
 
3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.4 
 
 

Internal BG Responses 
Team Leader Building Control: 
Building regulations is required. 
 
Service Manager Infrastructure: 
Highways: 
The Team Manager – Built Environment has confirmed that the proposed 
access road, footways, turning areas and off-street car parking provision are 
acceptable to the Highway Authority and no objection has been raised to the 
proposed residential development. He has also confirmed that the detailed 
requirements relating to these matters can be secured via the use of 
conditions. 
 
Drainage: 
No response received from Council’s Drainage Engineer. 
 

Page 11



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
3.5 
 
 
3.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.8 
 
 
 
 
 
3.9 
 
 
 
 
 
3.10 
3.11 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.12 

Ground Stability: 
No response received from Council’s Geotechnical Engineer. 
 
Landscape: 
The Team Manager – Natural Environment has raised no objection to the 
proposed residential development, indicating that the detailed landscape 
strategy would more than compensate for the loss of any low value trees 
identified for removal.  He also indicates that the trees to be removed are 
unmanaged or overgrown shrubs, or trees which are damaged, diseased or 
of low quality. As such, he has raised no objection to the proposed 
residential development subject to the erection of tree protection fencing 
around the root protection zone of those trees, and groups of trees, to be 
retained prior to any construction work. 
 
Ecology: 
The Council’s Ecologist is satisfied with the findings of the initial Ecology 
Report and update survey, and has indicated that provided that the 
recommendations outlined within the reports are implemented there should 
be no long term negative impacts on local ecology. No objection to the 
proposed residential development has therefore been raised; however, a 
number of advisory notes have been recommended.   
 
Service Manager Public Protection: 
The Specialist Environmental Health Officer has raised no objection in 
principle to the proposed residential development, but has requested the 
imposition of a standard conditions relating to land contamination and a 
Construction Method Statement. 
 
Team Leader Leisure  
A commuted sum towards upgrading outdoor play facilities in line with the 
requirements of the adopted Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Guidance has been requested. Glyncoed play area and ball court has been 
identified as the existing facility where the commuted sum would be spent. 
 
External Consultation Responses 
Natural Resources Wales (NRW): 
NRW has raised no objection in principle to the proposed residential 
development, indicating that the proposal is adjacent to, but not within, a 
Zone C2 Flood Zone. Attention is also drawn to the potential need for a flood 
risk activity permit and relevant pollution prevention advice and guidance due 
to the application site’s close proximity to the River Ebbw. 
 
Welsh Water (WW): 

Page 12



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.13 
 
 
 
3.14 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.15 
 
 
 
 
3.16 
 
 
3.17 
 
 
3.18 
 
 
 
3.19 
 
3.20 

WW has indicated that the proposed development is crossed by a 
trunk/distribution watermain and no part of any building is permitted within 
the required easement of 3.85m either side of the centre line of the 
watermain. However, it may be possible for this watermain to be diverted 
under Section 185 of the Water Industry Act 1991 and the cost of which will 
be charged to the developer. WW has also confirmed that capacity exists 
within the public sewerage network to only receive the domestic foul flows 
from the proposed development. Surface water must be dealt with via 
Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS). 
  
Western Power & W&W Utilities: 
Approximate position of apparatus in the vicinity of the application site is 
highlighted. 
 
Public Consultation: 
 

• 16 letters to nearby houses 
• 8 site notice(s) 
• press notice  
• website public register of applications 
• ward members by letter 
• all members via weekly list of applications received  
• other 

 
Response: 
As a result of the public consultation exercise, objections to the proposed 
residential development have been received from 28 individuals and a 
petition has been submitted containing 36 signatories. The objections 
received are summarised as follows: 

• The application is being considered too quickly and more time should 
be allowed for proper public consultation (e.g. a public meeting) and 
further impact assessments to be undertaken. 

• Approval of this development would set a dangerous precedent which 
could undermine the sustainability of parks and similar services 
throughout the whole of Blaenau Gwent. 

• The park is well used and makes a significant contribution to the 
mental and physical health and wellbeing of all its users (both adults 
and children), particularly during the time of a pandemic when gyms 
and other facilities have been closed. 

• The park is unique and difficult to replace given its accessible riverbank 
setting. 

• The park is already small in comparison to other parks in Blaenau 

Page 13



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
 
 
3.21 
 
 
 
3.22 
 
3.23 
 
3.24 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.25 
 
 
 

3.26 
3.27 
 
 
3.28 
 
3.29 
 
 
3.30 
 
 
3.31 
3.32 
 
3.33 
 
3.34 
 
 
3.35 

Gwent and the development proposed will involve what appears to be 
over 25% of the current area available to park users. 

• The proposed 15 dwellings would not have a significant positive impact 
on overall housing need, and such a substantial loss of parkland for 
such a limited increase in housing is too high a price for the local 
community. 

• The proposed mitigation would not compensate for the loss of parkland 
and will definitely not enhance the existing facility. 

• The development should be restricted to the existing footprint of the 
former sheltered housing scheme.  

• The loss of any of the limited parkland we have in the area is not 
justifiable and approving the development would contradict the Local 
Development Plan (LDP) and detailed planning policies which presume 
against a reduction in parkland and open/amenity space. As a result, 
the decision could be referred to the Public Services Ombudsman for 
Wales. 

• The proposed development exceeds the footprint of the previously 
developed land and the LDP Review 2017 shows that the Council is 
falling short of the target of 2.4 hectares per 1000 people for amenity 
land. As such, the loss of any amenity land will be contrary to the aim 
of increasing provision. 

• The site is not allocated for the proposed development in the LDP. 
• Any previous precedents of planning applications for housing refused 

on the basis of an unacceptable loss of open amenity/recreational 
space to the local community should be applied in this case. 

• The submitted geotechnical remediation strategy report indicates the 
presence of contamination on the site. 

• Natural Resources Wales’ Flood Risk Map indicates that the site sits in 
a Zone B Flood Zone (areas known to have flooded in the past) and 
part of the park has flooded on a number of occasions in the past. 

• The justification tests for the location of residential development in 
Technical Advice Note 15: Development and Flood Risk will not be 
met. 

• Flooding risk may have implications for home insurance. 
• The existing footpath which has been in place for more than 20 years 

will be substantially diverted. 
• There are issues in respect of ground stability with the adjacent 

pavement and roadway showing signs of land slippage.  
• Since the park has been transferred to Tai Calon, there has been a 

noticeable decline in the maintenance of the grounds, particularly grass 
cutting. 

• The development will damage trees and destroy an area used by all 

Page 14



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
 
3.36 

 

 

3.37 

3.38 

3.39 

3.40 

 

 

3.41 

 

 

 

 

3.42 

 

manner of wildlife. 
• The submitted studies need to be updated and extended to cover the 

application site. More specifically, the timing of the survey by Sturgess 
Ecology (dated 26th April 2021) means that NRW may not have 
received up to date information in respect of the presence of otters. 

• The development will add traffic to the area and cause disruption. 
• There are other more suitable sites for development elsewhere in the 

area. 
• The development appears to extend further into the park than what 

was proposed during the statutory pre-application consultation.  
• There are concerns that this could be a ‘tip of the iceberg development’ 

and the landowner may seek future approvals to develop further areas 
within the remainder of the park. 

The Local Member of the Senedd, Alun Davies, has reiterated a number of 
local residents’ concerns and objections specifically in relation to the loss of 
the well-used parkland/green space, the failure of mitigation measures to 
overcome the loss, the impact on local biodiversity/wildlife, conflict with LDP 
policies and inadequate public consultation during the pandemic. He has 
also stated that he is agreement with these objections. 
 
Ward members from an adjoining ward have also queried the extent of the 
developable area and whether the diverted footpaths will be enclosed. 
 

4.  Planning Policy 
4.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
 

Team Manager Development Plans: 
The Team Manager – Development Plans has indicated that the type of open 
space within the application site was not included in the open space 
assessment that informed the adopted LDP and is satisfied that the 
proposed development would not result in an unacceptable loss of open 
space. As such, no objection has been raised in principle to the proposed 
residential development.  
 
In terms of development viability, the Team Manager – Development Plans 
has also confirmed that the proposed development for affordable housing 
would be unviable if planning obligations were to be sought as part of the 
current planning application. 
 
LDP Policies: 

• SP4 Delivering Quality Housing; 
• SP5 Spatial Distribution of Housing Sites; 
• SP7 Climate Change; 

Page 15



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.5 
 
 
 
 
 
4.6 
 
 
 
 
 

• SP9 Active and Healthy Communities; 
• SP10 Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment; 
• DM1 New Development; 
• DM2 Design and Placemaking; 
• DM3 Infrastructure Provision; 
• DM7 Affordable Housing; 
• DM12 Provision of Outdoor Sport and Play Facilities; 
• DM13 Protection of Open Space; 
• DM14 Biodiversity Protection and Enhancement; 
• DM16 Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerow Protection; 
• ENV3 Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation; and  
• SB1 Settlement Boundaries 

 
Future Wales 

• Policy 2 – Shaping Urban Growth and Regeneration – Strategic 
Placemaking; 

• Policy 7 – Delivering Affordable Homes; 
• Policy 9 – Resilient Ecological Networks and Green Infrastructure; and 
• Policy 12 – Regional Connectivity. 

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance  

• Access, Car Parking and Design (March 2014); 
• A Model Design Guide for Wales – Residential Development (March 

2005); and  
• Planning Obligations – Note 7 (September 2011). 

 
PPW & TANs: 

• Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11, February 2021); 
• Technical Advice Note 12: Design (March 2016); and  
• Technical Advice Note 15: Development and Flood Risk (July 2004). 

 

5. Planning Assessment 
5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Principle of Development  
The Blaenau Gwent LDP indicates that the application site lies within the 
settlement boundary within which development is normally permitted subject 
to other policies within the plan and relevant material considerations (Policy 
SB1). The site is not covered by any development allocations or designations 
according to the LDP proposals map. The Ebbw River Site of Importance for 
Nature Conservation (SINC) does, however, adjoin the site’s north eastern 
boundary. 

Page 16



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
As indicated in Section 1 above, the north-western part of the site comprises 
of brownfield land which previously accommodated the former sheltered 
housing complex at Glan yr Afon Court. As such, the principle of a residential 
use on this part of the site has previously been established and I am satisfied 
that the proposed residential development is compatible with the 
neighbouring commercial/employment uses located immediately to the north 
of the site. I am also of the view that residential development on the more 
central and south-eastern (greenfield) part of the site would be compatible 
with neighbouring land uses which primarily comprises of a mixture of 
residential and recreational type uses.  As such, the proposed residential 
development meets the requirements of LDP Policy DM1 (criterion 2a) in 
respect of neighbouring land use compatibility.  
 
The central and south-eastern part of the site is arguably best described as a 
type of amenity greenspace1 and whilst this area of land is not covered by 
any LDP allocations or designations, development management policy DM13 
does seek to protect existing open space from development proposals. Local 
residents are clearly of the view that this area of land is a valuable 
recreational resource which serves the local community. I also note that the 
written justification associated with LDP Policy DM13 provides a very broad 
definition of “open space” indicating that it includes all land that is available 
for use by the public for informal and formal recreational and leisure use 
(paragraph 7.74). Given these factors, I am of the view that LDP Policy 
DM13 is applicable in this instance and as such, the proposed residential 
development should be assessed against the relevant policy criteria. Firstly, 
it must be demonstrated that the site has no significant amenity, recreational 
or nature conservation value (criterion a). If this criterion is met, there is a 
further requirement to demonstrate that one of following criteria are also met: 
there is a surplus of such facilities in locality (criterion b), the loss can be 
replaced with an equivalent or greater provision in the immediate locality 
(criterion c), or the development enhances an existing facility (criterion d).  
 
With regards to whether or not the site has significant value, the Team 
Manager – Development Plans has indicated that this type of informal open 
space was not included in the open space assessment which informed the 
allocations and policies of the adopted LDP and is satisfied that the proposed 
residential development would not result in an unacceptable loss of open 
space. It is therefore clear that this type of open space is not considered to 
be significant at a strategic or county borough level in respect of its 

                                                           
1 Informal recreation spaces, communal spaces in and around housing 

Page 17



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

recreational or amenity value. If it were otherwise, it would have previously 
been assessed and informed the preparation of the LDP. In terms of nature 
conservation value, the submitted Ecology Report (August 2019) and 
Ecology Update Survey Letter (April 2021) indicate that whilst the Ebbw 
River SINC adjoining the application site is significant in ecological terms, the 
application site itself is not considered to be of significant ecological value in 
respect of invertebrates, amphibians, reptiles, birds or mammals (see below 
for further details). I am therefore satisfied that the site does not have 
significant amenity, nature conservation or recreational value. Accordingly, 
the proposed residential development would meet the requirements of LDP 
Policy DM13 (criterion a). 
 
As no quantitative assessment has been undertaken of this type of informal 
open space, it is difficult to reach a judgement on whether there is a surplus 
of such facilities in the locality (criterion b). However, on the basis that there 
is no surplus of other types formally assessed open space within the ward 
and given that the site has some unique characteristics, such as a riverside 
location, in my view it is not unreasonable to reach the judgment that there is 
not a surplus of such facilities in the locality. Moreover, there are no 
proposals as part of this residential development to replace the amenity 
greenspace that would be lost (criterion c) and whilst I acknowledge that the 
proposed landscaping scheme would make some improvements to the local 
area, it is not considered to be a significant enhancement to the immediate 
locality (criterion d). As such, the proposed residential development would 
not meet the requirements of criteria b, c or d of LDP Policy DM13 and 
accordingly, would not meet the overall requirements of this policy.      
 
Notwithstanding the conflict with Policy DM13, it remains necessary to 
consider the proposed residential development against the requirements of 
the adopted LDP as a whole and the loss of open space needs to be 
balanced against the provision of affordable housing. Among other things, 
LDP Policy SP4 seeks to ensure that local housing need is met and a mix of 
dwelling types, sizes and tenures are delivered, including at least 335 
affordable dwellings. The Policy’s associated written justification does, 
however, clarify that the 335 affordable housing target is anticipated to be 
met through planning obligations and affordable housing exception dwellings 
(paragraph 6.33). Moreover, this target also forms part of a wider target total 
of 1,000 affordable housing units which it is estimated could be provided 
during the plan period (2006-2021) using all delivery mechanisms (paragraph 
6.34). Policy SP5 also indicates that “windfall sites”2 are expected to make a 

                                                           
2 Sites with the capacity for 10 or more units that have not been allocated in the LDP.  

Page 18



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
5.7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.9 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.11 
 
 

contribution to the housing targets across the County Borough (criterion b) 
and Policy 7 of Future Wales states that, among other things, planning 
authorities should explore all opportunities to increase the supply of 
affordable housing.  
 
The most recent LDP Annual Monitoring was published in September 2019 
and covers the period between 1st April 2018 and 31st March 2019. In terms 
of affordable housing delivery, it states that by 31st March 2019 only 507 
affordable housing units had been completed within the County Borough and 
even when taking into account sites with planning permission or under 
construction the total is only anticipated to increase to 643 (page 33).  As 
such, the target of delivering 1,000 by the end of 2021 will be a missed by a 
significant extent and I afford significant weight to the proposed delivery of 
affordable housing to help address this shortfall. 
 
The proposed development would provide 15 affordable housing units, 
compromising of mixture of bungalows, flats, and 2/3 bedroom houses. Five 
of the units would also be designed to accommodate wheelchair access in 
order to meet the needs of potential residents with limited mobility. The 
proposal would therefore make a modest but necessary contribution to the 
delivery of affordable housing in the County Borough in accordance with the 
requirements of LDP Policies SP4 and SP4 and Policy 7 of Future Wales. 
 
Whilst I acknowledge that the existing amenity greenspace would be 
negatively impacted by the proposed residential development, an 
appreciable amount of amenity greenspace would remain available to the 
local community as a recreational resource and some, albeit small, 
improvements to the amenity of the remaining area would be gained as a 
result of the proposed soft landscaping scheme. In my opinion, the 
demonstrable need for additional affordable housing outweighs the loss of 
the amenity greenspace and, on balance, the proposed residential 
development is acceptable in land use terms. 
 
Flooding 
According to Natural Resources Wales (NRW) development advice map, the 
application site predominantly falls within a flood zone B. Whilst the land 
adjoining the eastern boundary falls within a flood zone C2 (high risk flood 
area), this area of land is adjacent to the river and is at a lower land level 
than the development site.  
 
Technical Advice Note 15: Development and Flood Risk (TAN15) describes 
a flood zone B as an area known to have flooded in the past evidenced by 
sedimentary deposits, and advises that it is used as precautionary approach 

Page 19



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
5.12 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.13 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.14 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.15 
 
 
 
 
 
 

to indicate where site levels should be checked against the extreme (0.1%) 
flood level (see page 5 of TAN15). If site levels are greater than the flood 
levels used to define adjacent extreme flood outline, there is no need to 
consider flood risk further.  
 
As indicated above, the application site is at higher land level than the 
adjacent high risk flood zone C2 and the submitted Drainage Strategy and 
Flood Risk Assessment (DSFRA) confirms that no development, including 
gardens or storage of materials, would be located within this area at risk of 
flooding. Moreover, NRW has raised no objection in principle to the proposed 
residential development and has simply highlighted the need for a flood risk 
activity permit if development occurs within 8 metres of the River Ebbw. The 
DSFRA confirms that this permit has already been applied for. 
 
I am therefore satisfied that the risk of flooding is not significant in relation to 
the location of the proposed development and as such, the application of the 
justification test and flood consequence assessment (sections 6 and 7 of 
TAN15) are not necessary in this instance. Accordingly, the proposed 
development meets the requirements of LDP Policy SP7 in respect of flood 
risk. 
 
Site Layout, Scale and Appearance 
All residential developments should respond to the character and local 
distinctiveness of the area within which they are located. The surrounding 
area of the application site is characterised by a mixture of uses, such as 
commercial/employment buildings and residential properties. The type and 
design of surrounding residential buildings is also varied, but are pre-
dominantly two storey semi-detached properties with some two storey 
detached properties and bungalows also present. The nearest residential 
area to the application site is Cambridge Gardens which does have a 
distinctive building format and appearance. However, the application site is 
somewhat self-contained given its location on the opposite side of the river to 
Cambridge Gardens and, in my view, the emphasis should be on creating a 
development that complements the general character of the surrounding 
area, rather than directly referencing existing built forms or design features. 
 
The proposed residential development has been orientated so that it 
primarily fronts on to the new internal access road. Whilst this creates a 
development that largely focusses in on itself rather, the difference in levels 
to allotment road to the southwest and the proximity of the Ebbw River to the 
northeast, makes it difficult to integrate with adjacent street and surrounding 
area. The proposed site layout and orientation of the residential buildings is 
therefore considered to be the most appropriate in the local context. 

Page 20



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.16 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.17 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.18 
 
 
 
 
 
5.19 
 
 
 
 

Moreover, the proposed residential buildings create active frontages within 
the site and opportunities have been taken to create dual aspect elevations 
on certain corner plots, such as plot 8, that would provide natural 
surveillance to both the street and adjacent footpath passing through the 
amenity greenspace. First floor habitable room windows proposed in the rear 
elevation of the flat building (plots 14/15) would also overlook the amenity 
greenspace and re-routed footpath to the south, again providing a degree of 
natural surveillance. 
 
The proposed development’s off-street car parking is predominately located 
to the front of proposed buildings, which is not generally encouraged. 
However, I am of the view that alternative tandem parking to the sides of 
buildings serving would be difficult to achieve on the application site without 
reducing the number of dwellings proposed. I am also satisfied that the 
proposed hard and soft landscaping would help break up and soften the 
visual impact of the proposed car parking areas.     
 
In terms of scale and design, I am of the opinion that the proposed one and 
two storey buildings would be appropriate within the local context. The mix of 
house types in the form of bungalows, semi-detached houses and flats would 
also ensure a diverse housing stock and visually interesting street scene. 
The proposed residential buildings are a more contemporary design, and in 
order to break up the facades of the buildings and provide architectural 
interest, a mix of materials and textures are proposed. The proposed 
materials comprise predominantly of buff colour brick with dark grey bricks 
around front doors and brick projecting header detail. The roofs would be 
finished in grey reconstituted roof slates, the doors would be timber effect 
with a dark grey aluminium clad flat roof canopy and the window frames 
would also comprise of dark grey aluminium clad timber. Whilst I consider 
this design approach to be acceptable in principle, I recommend that a 
condition is imposed requiring the submission of sample materials.  
 
Overall, I am of the opinion that the proposed residential development would 
be of an appropriate design that would be in keeping with the character and 
appearance of the street scene and surrounding area. As such, the proposal 
is considered to be in accordance with requirements of Policies DM1 and 
DM2 in terms of design and placemaking. 
 
Highways and Car Parking 
In terms of vehicular access, the proposed residential development would 
utilise the existing vehicular access at the northern end of the site and a new 
internal access road would serve all new dwellings. A turning head for the 
internal access road would be located at the south-eastern end of site and 

Page 21



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
5.20 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.21 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.23 
 
 
 
 
5.24 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

the existing east-west footpath, which links allotment road to the residential 
areas of Cambridge Gardens and Ebbw View, would be re-positioned to the 
south of the proposed flats.  Whilst the existing footpath may have been in 
place for over 20 years, the diverted route is considered to be acceptable. 
 
The Team Manager – Built Environment has raised no objection to the 
proposed vehicular access, internal access road, new footways or 
replacement footpath nor has he raised any concern in terms of increased 
traffic movements in the area. He has, however, requested the imposition of 
a number of conditions that control the construction of the highways (roads 
and footways), the stopping up of the existing footway and its replacement 
and street lighting. I agree that such conditions would satisfy the relevant 
tests and should be imposed.  
 
In respect of car parking provision, the proposed residential development 
would be served by 22 off-street car parking spaces which has been reduced 
from the standard requirement based on the sustainability credentials of the 
application site. In accordance with the requirements of the adopted Access, 
Car Parking and Design SPG, a minimum of 1 car parking space for each 
one and two bed dwelling would be provided and each three bed dwelling 
would be served by 2 car parking spaces. 
 
The Team Manager – Built Environment has confirmed that the proposed 
level of car parking has been justified via the application of a sustainability 
assessment and is appropriate to meet the needs of the proposed residential 
development. He has also requested that the off-street parking areas for 
each plot are fully constructed prior to the occupation of each dwelling and 
retained thereafter. I am satisfied that this requirement can be achieved 
through the imposition of a suitably worded condition.  
 
I therefore of the opinion that the proposed residential development would 
meet the requirements of LDP Policy DM1 in respect of highways, access 
and parking matters and the requirements of the Access, Car Parking and 
Design SPG. 
 
Landscaping and Trees 
The submitted Tree Report (TR) indicates that a small number of trees would 
be removed as part of the proposed residential development. The Council’s 
Arboricultural Officer has confirmed that the trees to be removed are 
unmanaged or overgrown shrubs, or trees which are damaged, diseased or 
of low quality. As such, he has raised no objection to the proposed 
residential development subject to the erection of tree protection fencing 
around the root protection zone of those trees, and groups of trees, to be 

Page 22



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
 
 
 
5.25 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.26 
 
 
 
 
5.27 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.28 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

retained prior to any construction work. The latter can be secured via an 
appropriately worded condition.  
 
The Team Manager – Natural Environment has also raised no objection to 
the proposed residential development and confirmed that the landscaping 
proposals would more than compensate for the loss of any low value trees 
identified for removal. I am also satisfied that the proposed landscaping and 
planting would enable the proposed residential development to integrate 
effectively into the surrounding area. Moreover, I am of the view that the 
proposal would incorporate an appropriate mix of boundary walls, fences, 
railings and various forms of paving to hard landscape areas that would 
adequately define private, semi-private and public spaces. Whilst detailed 
soft landscaping proposals have already been provided, final detailed design 
and samples of the hard landscaping scheme and boundary treatments can 
be secured via condition. 
 
I am therefore of the view that the proposed soft and hard landscaping 
schemes would provide an appropriate visual setting for the proposed 
residential development and accordingly, the proposal would meet the 
requirements of Policy DM2 in respect of hard and soft landscaping matters. 
 
Residential Amenity 
The separation distance between the curtilages of the proposed semi-
detached building at plot 8 and the existing residential properties at Ebbw 
View would be approximately 25m, while the separation distance between 
the curtilages of the proposed flats building at plot 14/15 and the nearest 
residential properties at Cambridge Gardens would be over 30m. There is 
also substantial landscape screening along much of the Ebbw River corridor 
and I am satisfied that the proposed residential development would not have 
an unacceptable impact on the amenity of the occupiers of surrounding 
residential properties by means of overlooking, overshadowing or 
overbearing. I am also satisfied that the proposed residential development 
would not have an unacceptable impact on the amenity or operations of the 
existing commercial/employment buildings to the north of the application site. 
 
With regards to the residential amenity of the future occupiers of the 
development, I am of the view that the proposed layout, building orientations 
and window arrangements would prevent any direct overlooking between the 
habitable room windows of the proposed houses, bungalows and flats. I am 
also satisfied that the future occupiers of the houses would not experience 
unacceptable levels of overbearing or overshadowing from any neighbouring 
buildings.  
 

Page 23



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
5.29 
 
 
 
 
 
5.30 
 
 
 
 
 
5.31 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.32 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.33 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

All of the proposed houses, bungalows and flats would be provided with 
adequate private garden space, and whilst I note that the first floor flats 
would only have access to balconies as private outdoor amenity space, the 
immediate amenity greenspace would also be readily accessible to future 
occupiers. 
 
Overall, I am of the opinion that the proposed residential development would 
not have an unacceptable impact on the residential amenity of the occupiers 
of surrounding properties or the future occupiers of the site. As such, the 
proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy DM1 in respect of this 
matter. 
 
Ecology 
The submitted Ecology Report (August 2019) indicates that the most 
significant habitat for biodiversity is located in the north-eastern margin of the 
site, which forms part of the River Ebbw Site of Importance for Nature 
Conservation (SINC). The dense vegetation and steep sides mean that the 
bank is relatively undisturbed, providing habitat for a range of wildlife and 
acting as corridor for the movement of wildlife through this part of Ebbw Vale. 
In particular, the river and its banks have a potential to support invertebrates, 
birds and mammals (such as bats and otters). The Ecology Update Survey 
Letter (April 2021) also confirms the presence of otters along the River Ebbw 
after otter spraints were found at three separate locations.  
 
The remainder of the site was found mostly to support mown amenity 
grassland with standard parkland trees. These are generally considered to 
be common urban habitats which are not considered to be important in a 
county context. The Ecology Report (August 2019) indicates that this part of 
the site is not considered to be of significant ecological value in terms of 
invertebrates, amphibians, reptiles, birds or mammals. 
 
In terms of overall ecological constraints, the Ecology Report (August 2019) 
indicates that: 

• impacts on any habitat in the river and up to the top of the bank of the 
River Ebbw SINC should be avoided; 

• the clearance of any trees/shrubs should be undertaken outside of the 
bird nesting season; 

• a pre-construction re-check for bats roosting in trees should be 
undertaken if several years lapse before development commences; 

• if the development were to affect the dense riverside scrub, further 
checks should be carried out for otters; and 

• non-native invasive species should be removed, where necessary. 

Page 24



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
5.34 
 
 
 
 
5.35 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.36 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.37 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.38 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The Ecology Update Survey Letter (April 2021) confirms the above 
constraints continue to apply and in particular, reiterates the need for a 
licence from NRW if any works were to disturb otters or affect an otter resting 
or breeding site, which might include the riverside scrub or rock armouring. 
 
Natural Resources Wales (NRW) has been consulted on both the initial 
ecology report and update survey and raised no objection to the proposed 
residential development. Attention has been drawn to relevant pollution 
prevention advice and guidance, due to the application site’s close proximity 
to the River Ebbw. I am satisfied that these requirements can be brought to 
the applicant’s attention via a suitably worded informative. 
 
The Council’s Ecologist has also raised no objection to the proposed 
residential development and supports the recommendations set out within 
the Ecology Report and update survey. I am satisfied that specific matters 
raised by the Ecologist, such as the incorporation of hedgehog passes in 
boundary treatments, the potential need for an otter licence, the removal of 
invasive alien species of plant and the precautionary approach required 
during the bird breeding season can be addressed via appropriately worded 
informatives. Moreover, I am of the view that the submitted landscape 
strategy incorporates a number of native plant and tree species that would 
ensure no long term negative biodiversity impacts and I recommend that a 
construction method statement condition is imposed to minimise any impacts 
on the adjacent SINC. 
 
I am therefore of the opinion that, subject the conditions and informatives 
highlighted above, the proposed residential development would not have an 
unacceptable impact on the ecological interests of the site or the surrounding 
area. Accordingly, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with LDP 
Policies SP10, DM1 and DM14 in respect of biodiversity related matters. 
 
Ground Conditions 
In respect of ground stability, an Intrusive Mining Risk Assessment Report 
(IMRAR) has been submitted with the application, indicating that an intrusive 
ground investigation comprising of a series of rotary probe holes has been 
undertaken across the proposed development area. The IMRAR confirms 
that there is no recorded shallow coal mining beneath the site and as such, 
there is not deemed to be a risk from unrecorded coal mining. Moreover, 
whilst a desk top assessment had identified a potential risk from unrecorded 
ironstone mining, no evidence of any workings within the ironstones was 
identified as part of the intrusive ground investigation. As such, the IMRAR 
confirms that the proposed residential development is not at risk from past 

Page 25



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.39 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.40 
 
 
5.41 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.42 
 
 
 
 
 
5.43 
 
 
 

shallow mining and no special precautionary measures or foundation design 
are required as part of the proposed development. I am therefore satisfied 
that the application site is capable of support the proposed residential 
development without risk of damage to buildings on the site or adjoining land. 
Accordingly, the proposed development would meet the requirements of LDP 
Policy DM1 in respect of this matter. 
 
With regard to ground contamination, the submitted Remediation Strategy 
Report (RSR), indicates that a contaminant was identified in one of the soil 
samples. As a consequence, the RSR recommends that the following 
mitigation and remedial measures are implemented: 

• Protection of construction workers during site development through 
good level of PPE and hygiene; 

• Capping of the front and rear gardens of Plots 1-8 with 600mm of 
imported clean soils; 

• Validation of all imported soils/aggregate; 
• Installation of appropriate water supply pipes; and  
• Installation of gas protection. 

 
The RSR also recommends the submission of further details of proposed 
water pipes, ground gas protection measures and soil/aggregate verification. 
 
The Council’s Specialist Environmental Health Officer has reviewed the RSR 
and raised no objection to the proposed residential development subject to 
the imposition of a standard land contamination condition securing a detailed 
remediation strategy and remediation validation/verification reports. Attention 
has also been drawn to the need to install a geo-textile membrane in the 
garden areas at a depth of 600mm to act as do not dig below barrier. I am 
satisfied that a suitability worded informative is sufficient to advise the 
applicant/agent that this additional precautionary measure should form part 
of the detailed remediation strategy that will be secured via condition. 
 
I am therefore of the opinion that, subject to appropriate mitigation and 
remediation measures being secured via the condition identified above, the 
land contamination on the site would be adequately controlled and 
contained. Accordingly, the proposal would meet the requirements of LDP 
Policy DM1 in respect of this matter. 
 
Drainage 
The proposed residential development would seek to connect foul water 
drainage to the main public sewerage network and Welsh Water (WW) has 
confirmed that spare capacity exists within the sewerage network to receive 

Page 26



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
 
 
 
5.44 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.45 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.46 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.47 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

foul flows. I am satisfied that the details of a foul water drainage scheme for 
the proposal can be secured by an appropriately worded condition.  
 
WW has also indicated that the proposed development is crossed by a 
trunk/distribution watermain and no part of any building is permitted within 
the required easement of 3.85m either side of the centre line of the 
watermain. Whilst it appears that some of the proposed residential buildings 
would conflict with this requirement, WW has also indicated that it may be 
possible for this watermain to be diverted at the expense of the developer. 
Given that WW has not objected to the proposed residential development 
and there appears to be solution to overcome this constraint, I am satisfied 
that the presence of the watermain is not an insurmountable constraint to the 
proposed development and the matter can be left to WW and the 
applicant/developer to resolve.  
 
In terms of surface water management, indicative Sustainable Drainage 
System (SuDS) details have been submitted with the application, indicating 
that the proposed residential development would incorporate green roofs on 
the proposed bungalows, bio-retention areas within gardens and permeable 
paved driveways that would connect to a detention basin proposed between 
house plot 8 and the re-routed footpath. As the proposed residential 
development is for more than one dwelling, these SuDS details will require a 
separate consent from the SuDS Approval Body. The applicant has 
confirmed that discussions with the SuDS Approval Body are being 
undertaken separately to this planning application.    
  
Planning Obligations 
Policy DM3 requires new development to meet the infrastructure needs that 
it generates, including the improvement or provision of infrastructure, 
services and community facilities. Policy DM12 also seeks to secure the 
provision of outdoor sport and play facilities with all new residential 
developments of 10 or more units. 
  
As indicated in Section 3 above, a request has been made for a commuted 
sum towards upgrading outdoor play facilities in line with the requirements of 
the adopted Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Guidance. 
Glyncoed play area and ball court has been identified as the existing facility 
where the commuted sum would be spent. The requirement to provide this 
type of planning obligation is, however, subject to development viability and 
the applicant has submitted a viability assessment which indicates that the 
proposed residential development would not be financially viable if this 
leisure contribution was sought. The Team Manager – Development Plans 
has reviewed the submitted viability assessment and confirmed that the 

Page 27



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
 
 
 
 
5.48 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.49 
 
 
 
5.50 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.51 
 
 
 
5.52 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.53 
 
 
 
 
 
 

proposed development for affordable housing would be unviable if any 
planning obligations were to be sought as part of the current planning 
application. 
 
Whilst I am also satisfied that sufficient evidence has been submitted to 
demonstrate that the proposed development would be unviable if the 
aforementioned planning obligation was provided, it must be recognised that 
without the planning obligation, the proposal would not fully meet its 
infrastructure needs and as such, would have some negative impact on local 
community facilities. However, this impact needs to be balanced against the 
benefits of delivering much needed affordable housing. In my opinion, any 
negative impact on local community facilities would not be significant enough 
to outweigh the benefits of the proposal.  
 
Other Matters 
The majority of issues raised by objectors have been addressed above.  In 
terms of other matters raised I would provide the following comment: 
 

• The application is being determined too quickly and further consultation 
should be carried out with the public for further impacts to be assessed. 
The statutory consultation requirements have been complied with both 
at pre-application stage and the planning application stage.  This report 
has run over the statutory time period for determination to ensure all 
material planning considerations are satisfactorily addressed. 
 

• More suitable sites should be found 
The Council is duty bound to consider the scheme as submitted.  The 
suitability of the site has been considered in some detail above. 
 

• Decline in maintenance since Tai Calon took ownership of site / site 
extends further than at PAC stage / concerns the site may expand in 
the future 
These are not material planning consideration in the determination of 
this application.   

 
Conclusion 
In summary, I am of the view that, on balance, the proposed residential 
development is acceptable in land use terms and would not have a 
detrimental impact on residential amenity, local biodiversity or the character 
and appearance of the surrounding area. Moreover, the proposal is 
considered acceptable in terms of vehicular and pedestrian access and car 
parking provision. 

Page 28



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
   
6. Legislative Obligations 
6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.2 
 

The Council is required to decide planning applications in accord with the 
Local Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
The planning function must also be exercised in accordance with the 
principles of sustainable development as set out in the Well-Being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 to ensure that the development and use of 
land contributes to improving the economic, social, environmental and 
cultural well-being of Wales.  
 
The Council also has obligations under other legislation including (but not 
limited to) the Crime and Disorder Act, Equality Act and Human Rights Act. 
In presenting this report, I have had regard to relevant legislation and sought 
to present a balanced and reasoned recommendation. 
 

7.  Conclusion and Recommendation 
7.1 
 

Planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following condition(s): 
 

1.  The development shall begin not later than five years from the date of 
this decision notice. 
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1980.  

 
2.  The development shall not be carried out expect in complete 

accordance with the details of the following approved plans and 
documents, except where amended by conditions attached to this 
planning permission: 

 
Documents 

• BS5837 2012 Tree Information (Treecare Consulting, 08.2019) 
• Remediation Strategy Report (Terra Firma, March 2021) 
• Recommendations in Ecology Report (Aug 2019) and Update Survey 

(April 2021) (Sturgess Ecology) 
 
Plans 

- 151604-STL-XX-XX-DR-A-XXXX-01010-PL07-SITE LOCATION PLAN  
- 151604-STL-XX-XX-DR-A-XXXX-01011-PL07-EXISTING SITE PLAN   
- 151604-STL-XX-XX-DR-A-XXXX-01012-PL07-PROPOSED SITE 

PLAN  
- 151604-STL-XX-XX-DR-A-XXXX-01013-PL07-PROPOSED SITE 

ROOF PLAN  
- 151604-STL-XX-XX-DR-A-XXXX-01014-PL07-PROPOSED SITE 

Page 29



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
CONTEXT PLAN  

- 151604-STL-XX-XX-DR-A-XXXX-21000-PL07-SITE ELEVATIONS  
- 151604-STL-01-ZZ-DR-A-XXXX-00301-PL07-HOUSE TYPE 01 - 1B2P 

FLATS PLANS - VERSION 03  
- 151604-STL-01-ZZ-DR-A-XXXX-00302-PL07-HOUSE TYPE 01 - 1B2P 

FLATS - VERSION 03  
- 151604-STL-02-ZZ-DR-A-XXXX-00101-PL07-HOUSE TYPE 02 - 2B3P 

BUNGALOW PLAN  
- 151604-STL-02-ZZ-DR-A-XXXX-00102-PL07-HOUSE TYPE 02 - 2B3P 

BUNGALOW  
- 151604-STL-03-ZZ-DR-A-XXXX-00101-PL07-HOUSE TYPE 03 - 2B4P 

HOUSE PLANS  
- 151604-STL-03-ZZ-DR-A-XXXX-00102-PL07-HOUSE TYPE 03 - 2B4P 

HOUSE  
- 151604-STL-04-ZZ-DR-A-XXXX-00101-PL07-HOUSE TYPE 04 - 2B4P 

HOUSE (CORNER)  
- 151604-STL-05-ZZ-DR-A-XXXX-00101-PL07-HOUSE TYPE 05 - 3B5P 

HOUSE PLANS  
- 151604-STL-05-ZZ-DR-A-XXXX-00102-PL07-HOUSE TYPE 05 - 3B5P 

HOUSE  
- 151604-STL-00-XX-DR-L-09001- PL_PL07 Landscape General 

Arrangement  
- 151604-STL-00-XX-DR-L-09101- PL_PL07 Tree Protection, Retention 

and Removal Plan  
- 151604-STL-00-XX-DR-L-09141 PL_PL11 Soft Landscape Plan 

received on 28.09.21 
- 151604-STL-00-XX-DR-L-09142-Planting Schedules  
- 151604-STL-00-XX-DR-L-09161- PL_PL07 Hard Landscape Plan  
- 151604-STL-00-XX-DR-L-09181- PL_PL08 Boundary Treatment Plan  
- 151604-STL-00-XX-DR-L-09410 - PL_PL10 Tree Pit Detail received on 

09.08.21 
- IR18102 101 P5 EXTERNAL WORKS GA  
- IR18102 201 P4 DRAINAGE GA received on 09.08.21 
- IR18102 203 P2 DRAINAGE LONGSECTION & DETAILS received on 

09.08.21 
- IR18102 204 P1 DETENTION BASIN SECTION received on 09.08.21 
- IR18102 110 P1 REFUSE VEHICLE SWEPT PATH  

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the 
approved plans and documents. 

 
3. Prior to commencement of development the development shall not 

Page 30



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
begin until a scheme for the provision of affordable housing as part of 
the development has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The affordable housing shall be provided in 
accordance with the approved scheme and shall meet the definition of 
affordable housing in Annex B of TAN 2 or any future guidance that 
replaces it. The scheme shall include: 

i) the numbers, type, tenure and location on the site of the affordable 
housing provision to be made which shall consist of not less than 10% 
of housing units/bed spaces;  

ii) the timing of the construction of the affordable housing and its phasing 
in relation to the occupancy of the market housing;  

iii) the management of the affordable housing;  
iv) the arrangements to ensure that such provision is affordable for both 

first and subsequent occupiers of the affordable housing; and  
v) the occupancy criteria to be used for determining the identity of 

occupiers of the affordable housing 
 Reason: To ensure affordable housing is provided in accordance with 
policy DM7 of the adopted Blaenau Gwent Local Development Plan. 

 
4. No development shall commence on site until a Construction Method 

Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The Statement shall include details of: 
• practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive 

practices) to avoid or reduce impacts on the Ebbw River Site of 
Importance for Nature Conservation during construction; 

• hours of working; 
• site access and the parking of vehicles of site operatives and 

visitors; 
• wheel washing facilities; 
• storage of plant and materials used during construction works; 
• the erection and maintenance of security hoardings; 
• measures to control noise and the emissions of dust and dirt 

during construction works; 
• details of a scheme for the recycling/disposing of waste resulting 

from construction works; and 
• siting and details of any required construction compound.  

 
Such details and measures as contained in a Construction Method 
Statement approved by the Local Planning Authority shall be adhered to 
throughout the construction period. 
Reason: To safeguard local amenity and ecological interests and to 
ensure that the impacts of the construction phase of the development 

Page 31



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
are adequately addressed. 

 
5. Tree protection measures shown on 151604-STL-00-XX-DR-L-09101-

PL07-Tree Protection Retention and Removal Plan shall be 
implemented prior to the commencement of development and 
maintained as necessary for the duration of the construction period. 
Reason: To ensure protection of any trees and safeguard the visual 
amenities of the area. 
 

6. The external surfaces of the building(s) and hard landscaping materials 
shall be constructed of the materials specified on the following plans: 

- 151604-STL-01-ZZ-DR-A-XXXX-00302-PL07-HOUSE TYPE 01 - 1B2P 
FLATS - VERSION 03  

- 151604-STL-02-ZZ-DR-A-XXXX-00102-PL07-HOUSE TYPE 02 - 2B3P 
BUNGALOW  
- 151604-STL-03-ZZ-DR-A-XXXX-00102-PL07-HOUSE TYPE 03 - 2B4P 
HOUSE  
- 151604-STL-04-ZZ-DR-A-XXXX-00101-PL07-HOUSE TYPE 04 - 2B4P 

HOUSE (CORNER)  
- 151604-STL-05-ZZ-DR-A-XXXX-00102-PL07-HOUSE TYPE 05 - 3B5P 

HOUSE  
- 151604-STL-00-XX-DR-L-09161- PL_PL07 Hard Landscape Plan 

         Reason: To ensure an acceptable form of development.  
 

7. The boundary enclosures indicated on the approved plans shall be 
provided in full accordance with the approved details before the 
dwelling(s) to which it relates is occupied. 
Reason: To protect the privacy and amenities of the occupants of the 
application property, the occupiers of neighbouring properties and the 
visual amenities of the area. 
 

8. Notwithstanding any details indicated on the approved plans, before 
works commence on site details shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority of any retaining walls/structures 
or works required in association with the construction of the 
development hereby approved.  Any details of retaining 
walls/structures or works that will exceed 1.5m in height must also 
include a certificate signed by a suitably qualified engineer that shall 
verify the structural integrity of the proposed works.  All works shall be 
undertaken and completed in full accordance with such details and 
specifications as may be approved before the dwellings to which they 
relate are brought into use. 

Page 32



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
Reason: To safeguard the integrity of any retaining works required in 
association with the approved development and to safeguard visual 
amenity interests. 

 
9. No dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied until the access, 

driveway and parking areas relating to that dwelling are constructed in 
accordance as indicated on the approved plans.  The parking areas 
provided shall be retained for their designated purpose at all times. 
Reason: To ensure the parking needs of the development are 
adequately met and to safeguard highway interests. 

10. No approved dwelling shall be occupied until the roads and footways 
serving that dwelling have been laid out and constructed to a minimum 
of binder course level and any street lighting to be provided has been 
erected and energised in full accordance with details to be submitted 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before works 
commence on the construction of the dwellings. 
Reason: To ensure suitable vehicle and pedestrian access to the site 
and to safeguard highway and pedestrian safety. 

 
11. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of 

landscaping, shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding 
season following occupation of the dwellings, the completion of the 
development (whichever is the sooner), or any alternative timescale 
that may be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before 
works commence on site. Any trees, shrubs or plants which within a 
period of 5 years from implementation of the planting scheme die, are 
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced 
by one of the same species and size in the next available planting 
season.  
Reason: To ensure timely implementation of an appropriate 
landscaping scheme.    

 
12. The foul drainage scheme shown on IR18102 201 P4 DRAINAGE GA 

shall be implemented prior to the occupation of the development. 
Reason: To ensure that effective drainage facilities are provided for the 
development and that no adverse impact occurs to the environment or 
the existing public sewerage system. 

 
13. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until 

all the measures identified as necessary to decontaminate the site, as 
contained in the Remediation Strategy Report (Terra Firma, March 
2021), are implemented and the Authority is provided with a validation 

Page 33



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
report signed by a suitably qualified person that confirms that such 
measures and/or works have been fully implemented.  
Reason: To ensure that the development is implemented in a manner 
that gives due regard to contamination issues. 

 
14. If, during the course of development, any contamination is found which 

has not been previously identified, additional measures for the 
remediation of this source of contamination in the form of a remediation 
scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The remediation of the site shall incorporate all 
approved additional measures and shall be completed before the 
development hereby approved is occupied. 
Reason:  To ensure that any unexpected contamination issues are 
adequately addressed and that suitable mitigation measures are 
implemented. 

 
15. If during the course of development, any unexpected land instability 

issues are found which were not previously identified, additional 
measures for their remediation in the form of a remediation scheme 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The remediation of the site shall incorporate the approved 
additional measures which shall be completed before the development 
hereby approved is occupied. 
Reason: To ensure that any unexpected land stability issues are 
adequately dealt with and that ground stability issues are appropriately 
addressed.  

 
16. Unless otherwise approved in writing, the existing adopted public 

footpath proposed to be relocated as part of the development shall be 
maintained until the replacement footpath, as shown on 151604-STL-
XX-XX-DR-A-XXXX-01012-PL07-PROPOSED SITE PLAN has been 
completed in full accordance with the approved details.  
Reason: To ensure access to the public footpath is maintained at all 
times. 

 
17. Prior to the installation of any bin stores, sheds or other minor 

structures, details must be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority and implemented in full accordance with such 
details as may be approved. 
Reason: To ensure an acceptable form of development. 

 
 
 

Page 34



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
 
 
Informatives 
 
1. The applicant/developer is reminded of his/her obligation under the Town 

and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) 
(Amendment) Order 2016 to give notification of commencement of 
development to the Local Planning Authority and to display a notice at all 
times when the development is being carried out. 

 
2. The applicant/developer is advised that the new access roads and 

footways serving the development should be designed and constructed in 
accordance with Blaenau Gwent’s ‘Residential, Industrial and 
Commercial Estate Roads’ Design Guide. Further advice on this matter 
can be sought from the Highway Authority on 01495 355411. 

 
3. The Council’s Service Manager Infrastructure has advised that the 

development for which full planning permission has been granted is one 
that requires SUSTAINABLE DRAINAGE APPROVAL BEFORE WORKS 
COMMENCE ON SITE. This is a separate legislative requirement 
introduced by Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 
which came into effect in Wales on 7th January 2019. Applications for 
sustainable drainage approval relating to developments in Blaenau 
Gwent are being processed by Caerphilly County Borough Council.  
Further information in relation to this requirement can be found at 
https://www.blaenau-gwent.gov.uk/en/resident/planning/how-to-apply-for-
planning-permission/permission-for-drainage/  

 
4. The applicant/developer is advised that Japanese Knotweed, Indian 

Balsam, Montbretia, Himalayan Cotoneaster and Hollyberry Cotoneaster 
are located either on the site or the surrounding area. All are listed as 
alien invasive species in Schedule 9 Part II of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). It is an offence to spread or cause 
to grow wild such alien invasive species and will need to be eradicated 
from the site prior to the commencement of development works. 

 
5.   All British birds, their nests and eggs (with certain limited exceptions) are 

protected under Part 1 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended).  This makes it an offence to intentionally or recklessly kill, 
injure or take any wild bird, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird 
whilst it is in use or being built or take or destroy the egg of any wild bird.  
To avoid any unlawful act, all works should be carried out between the 
months of September and February (inclusive). If it is unavoidable that 

Page 35

https://www.blaenau-gwent.gov.uk/en/resident/planning/how-to-apply-for-planning-permission/permission-for-drainage/
https://www.blaenau-gwent.gov.uk/en/resident/planning/how-to-apply-for-planning-permission/permission-for-drainage/


Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
clearance works have to be undertaken during the nesting season, a pre- 
commencement check will be required by a suitable qualified ecologist. 

 
6. The applicant/developer is advised that hedgehog passes should be 

incorporated into boundary treatments and between gardens. 
 
7. The applicant/developer is advised that the presence of otter has been 

confirmed along the river. A licence from NRW may be required for any 
work that may disturb otters or affect an otter resting or breeding place, 
which might include the riverside scrub or rock-armouring. Otters are 
protected under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017 (as amended), known as the ‘Habitats Regulations’. Further advice 
on protected species licences should be sought from NRW (email - 
specieslicence@naturalresourceswales.gov.uk).  

 
8.  All British bat species are protected under the Conservation of Habitats 

and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) known as the ‘Habitats 
Regulations’. Under the ‘Habitats Regulations’ it is an offence to: 
• Deliberately capture, injure or kill any wild animal of European 

Protected Species; 
• Deliberately disturb wild animals of any such species; or 
• Damage or destroy a breeding site or resting place of such an animal. 

 
9. The applicant/developer is strongly advised to adhere to the following 

guidance to prevent any pollution to the River Ebbw during construction 
works: “Works and maintenance in or near water: GPP5” (Version 1.2, 
February 2018) and “Working at construction and demolition sites: 
GPP6”. The guidance can be accessed at 
https://www.netregs.org.uk/environmental-topics/guidance-for-pollution-
prevention-gpp-documents/guidance-for-pollution-prevention-gpps-full-
list/  

 
10. The applicant/developer is advised that the submission of the detailed 

remediation strategy and remediation validation/verification reports 
should include the additional precautionary measure of installing a geo-
textile membrane in the garden areas at a depth of 600mm to act as do 
not dig below barrier. 

8.   Risk Implications 
8.1 
 

None. 

 
 

Page 36

mailto:specieslicence@naturalresourceswales.gov.uk
https://www.netregs.org.uk/environmental-topics/guidance-for-pollution-prevention-gpp-documents/guidance-for-pollution-prevention-gpps-full-list/
https://www.netregs.org.uk/environmental-topics/guidance-for-pollution-prevention-gpp-documents/guidance-for-pollution-prevention-gpps-full-list/
https://www.netregs.org.uk/environmental-topics/guidance-for-pollution-prevention-gpp-documents/guidance-for-pollution-prevention-gpps-full-list/


Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 

 
 
 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



  Report author: Jane Engel 
Date: 11th November  2021 

 

 
 

 
 

BLAENAU GWENT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
Report to: 
 

 
Planning, Regulatory & General Licensing 
Committee 

 
Report Subject: 
 

 
Application: C/2020/0209 
 
Site: 53 Larch Lane, Tredegar 
 
Proposal: Two storey rear extension 

 
Report Author: 
 

 
Planning Officer Development Management 

 
Directorate: 
 

 
Regeneration and Community Services 

 
Date of meeting: 
 

 
24th November 2021 

 

 

1.0 Purpose of Report 
1.1 
 
 
 
 
1.2 
 
 
 
 
1.3 
 
 
1.4 
 
 
 
 

This planning report is being presented to Members to clarify an 
issue raised during consideration of the above application at 4th 
November 2021 meeting of the Planning Committee regarding 
the correct length of the proposed extension. 
 
Following my presentation of the appended officers report, the 
applicant spoke in support of his application. He advised that the 
stated length of the proposed extension in the report of 4.2m was 
incorrect. He advised that the extension measured 3.5m long. 
 
It was resolved by Planning Committee to defer making a 
decision to allow for the accurate measurement to be clarified.   
 
The agent has since confirmed that the measurement of 3.5m 
provided by the applicant was the internal measurement of the 
extension and not an external measurement.  
 

Page 39

Agenda Item 5



  Report author: Jane Engel 
Date: 11th November  2021 

 

 
 

1.5 
 
 

However, I would also bring the Members attention to an error 
within the report.  The extension projects 3.8m from the rear 
building line of the house rather than the 4.2m stated.  The total 
length of the extension as viewed from the road to the west does 
however measure 4.19m. 
 
 

 
  
 
The Officer recommendation remains as per the appended report 
that planning permission should be refused for the reasons set 
out in my report. 
 

 

Page 40



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
Planning Report 

 
Application 
No: 

C/2021/0209 App Type: Full  

Applicant: Agent: 
Mr Liam Jenkins   
53, Larch Lane 
Bedwellty Gardens 
Tredegar 
NP22 4FA 

George and Co 
Mr Steven George 
1st Floor 
Woodfired Studios 
62 High Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil 
United Kingdom 
CF47 8DE 

Site Address: 
53  Larch Lane, Bedwellty Gardens, Tredegar  
Development: 
Proposed two storey rear extension. 
Case Officer: Jane Engel 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
 

 
1. Background, Development and Site Context 
1.1 
 
 
1.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.4 
 
1.5 

This application seeks planning permission for a two storey extension to the 
rear of 53 Larch Lane, Bedwellty Gardens, Tredegar. 
  
The property is an end of link two storey house situated within the Bedwellty 
Gardens development site.  It is located on a corner, which fronts onto the 
estate road which extends around the side boundary. The rear garden backs 
onto the side garden of no 35 Larch Lane.  

 

 
 

 

The proposed extension projects 4.2m from the main back wall of the house 
and extends across the full width of the garden projecting 0.67m beyond the 
side elevation of the house. It will have a pitched roof and have a set of 
French doors at ground floor level and two windows at first floor serving the 
two bedrooms. 

 
The extension would be finished in materials to match the main house. 
 
Concerns were raised with the agent over the design of the proposed 
extension and he was requested to amend the development.  He advised 
that he wished the application to proceed on the plans as submitted. 
 

2. Site History 

Page 42



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
 Ref No 

 
Details Decision 

2.1 C/2007/0400 Erection of 147 no. dwellings including 
garages, roads and associated works 

Approved 
04/08/2009 

3. Consultation and Other Relevant Information 
3.1 
3.2 
 
 
 
 
3.3 
 
 
3.4 
 
 
 
 
3.5 

Internal BG Responses 
Team Leader Building Control: 
Building Regulations required 
 
 
External Consultation Responses 
Town / Community Council: 
No objections 
 
Welsh Water 
The applicant is advised that the proposed development site is crossed by a 
public sewer.  No development will be permitted within the safety zone which 
is measured either side of the centre line.   
 
Public Consultation: 
 

• 2 letters to nearby houses 
• site notice(s) 
• press notice  
• website public register of applications 
• ward members by letter 
• all members via weekly list of applications received  
• other 

 
Response: 
No responses have been received as a result of the neighbour notifications. 
Ward Members have requested that the application be presented to Planning 
Committee as they consider that there are a mix of housing types, sizes and 
designs in the immediate area. 
 

4.  Planning Policy 
4.1 Team Manager Development Plans: 

 
LDP Policies: 
DM1 New development 
DM2 Design and Placemaking 
 

Page 43



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: Householder Design Guidance Note 1 
 
 

5. Planning Assessment 
5.1 
 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The proposal has been assessed against policies DM1 and DM2 of the 
adopted Local Development Plan (LDP) and the adopted Supplementary 
Planning Guidance for Householder Development Note 1: Extensions and 
Conservatories (SPG). 

The proposed extension meets the requirements of the SPG in relation to its 
size, finishes and roof design and remaining amenity space.  
 
The positioning of the extension is such that it will inevitably have some 
impact upon the immediate neighbouring property in terms of loss of light.  
However, I do not consider that any overshadowing would be significant 
enough to justify refusal of the application.  I am also satisfied that the 
proposal would not have an overbearing impact upon the amenities of the 
occupiers.  No windows are proposed in the side elevation therefore there 
are no concerns regarding loss of privacy. 

The proposal will result in the windows on the first floor being brought closer 
to the garden of the property to the rear.  However, this garden area is 
already overlooked and as such I do not consider the impact to be significant 
enough to justify refusal of the application. I also consider that the extension 
will be sited far enough away such that it will not have an overbearing or 
overshadowing impact upon this property.  I therefore consider the proposal 
to be compliant with policy DM1 2c.  
 
However, policy DM2 d specifies that extensions should “reflect, 
complement, or enhance the form, siting .… of the original building, its 
curtilage and the wider area”.  Policy DM1 2b requires proposals to have no 
“unacceptable adverse visual impact on the townscape”.  The SPG also 
advises that extensions on corner plots need to respect the streetscene.  

Page 44



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.6 
 
 
 
 
 
5.7 
 
 
 

5.8 
 
 

 
 
 
The proposed projection beyond the side elevation is considered poor design 
which fails to respect the main building and the design of dwellings in the 
wider area. The disruption of the building line  would result in an incongruous 
feature as viewed from the surrounding area and as such consider contrary 
to both DM2 d and DM1 2b and the SPG.  
 
Whilst the principle of a two storey extension is acceptable in principle, the 
projection beyond the side building line is not considered an acceptable form 
of development for the reasons outlined above. 
 
Approval of the development would in my view set an unacceptable 
precedent for other such development within the estate. 

6. Legislative Obligations 
6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.2 
 

The Council is required to decide planning applications in accord with the 
Local Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
The planning function must also be exercised in accordance with the 
principles of sustainable development as set out in the Well-Being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 to ensure that the development and use of 
land contributes to improving the economic, social, environmental and 
cultural well-being of Wales.  
 
The Council also has obligations under other legislation including (but not 
limited to) the Crime and Disorder Act, Equality Act and Human Rights Act. 
In presenting this report, I have had regard to relevant legislation and sought 

Page 45



Report Date: 
Report Author: 

 
to present a balanced and reasoned recommendation. 
 

7.  Conclusion and Recommendation 
7.1 
 

In conclusion, I consider the proposed extension would have a detrimental 
impact upon the visual amenity of the area.  The development is therefore 
contrary to LDP Policy DM1 2b and DM2 d and Supplementary Planning 
Guidance for Householders: Note 1 
 
Planning permission be REFUSED for the following reason(s): 
 
By virtue of its design the proposed extension would have an unacceptable 
impact upon the visual amenity of the area. The disruption of the building line 
results in an incongruous feature which will have an unacceptable impact 
upon the streetscene to the detriment of the character and appearance of the 
surrounding area contrary to Policy DM1 2d and DM1 2b and the Council’s 
adopted Supplementary Planning Guidance “Householder Design 
Guidance”, Note 1 Extensions and Conservatories. 
 

8.   Risk Implications 
8.1 
 

None 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



 
Report Date:  

Report Author:   
 

 
 

 
 

BLAENAU GWENT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
Report to 
 

 
The Chair and Members of Planning, Regulatory 
and General Licensing 

 
Report Subject 
 

 
Appeals, Consultations and DNS 
 
Update November 2021 
 

 
Report Author 
 

 
Service Manager Development & Estates 

 
Report Date 
 

 
 11th November 2021 

 
Directorate 
 

 
Regeneration & Community Services 

 
Date of meeting 
 

 
24th November 2021 

 

1.0 Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 

 
To update Members in relation to planning appeal and related cases. 
 

2.0 Present Position 
 
2.1 
 
 

 
The attached list covers the “live” planning appeals and Development 
of National Significance (DNS) caseload. 
 

3.0 Recommendation/s for Consideration 
 
3.1 

 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



 
Report Date:  

Report Author:   
 

 
 

 

 Application No 
Appeal Reference 

Case Officer 
Site Address Development Type 

Procedure Sit Rep 

1 

C/2020/0227 
 
APP/X6910/A/21/3278965 

 
Les Taylor 

Land adjoining 
Coed Cae Farm 
House, Rassau, 
Ebbw Vale 

Outline for a single detached dwelling 
with parking 

Refusal of 
planning 

permission 
 

Written Reps 

Decision pending 
Notification received that  
Planning Inspector’s site visit 
would take place in the week 
commencing 8th November 2021 

2 

C/2021/0182 
 

APP/X6910/A/21/3281080 
 

Les Taylor 

Land adjoining 
Waun Dew, 
Beaufort Hill, 
Beaufort, Ebbw 
Vale 

Proposed construction of 2 no. new 
houses with associated external works 

Refusal of 
planning 

permission 
 

Written reps 

Decision pending 
Notification received that 
Planning Inspector’s site visit 
would take place in the week 
commencing 8th November 2021 

P
age 48



Report Date: 15 November 2021 
Report Author: Kath Rees 

 

 
 

 
 

BLAENAU GWENT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
Report to 
 

 
The Chair and Members of Planning, 
Regulatory and General Licensing 

 
Report Subject 
 

 
List of applications decided under 
delegated powers between 18th October 
2021 and 8th November 2021 

 
Report Author 
 

 
Senior Business Support Officer 

 
Report Date 
 

 
15th November 2021 

 
Directorate 
 

 
Regeneration & Community Services 

 
Date of meeting 
 

 
24th November 2021 

 
 

1.0 Purpose of Report 
1.1 To report decisions taken under delegated powers. 

 
2.0 Scope of the Report 
2.1 The attached list deals with the period 18th October 2021 and 8th 

November 2021. 
3.0 Recommendation/s for Consideration 
3.1 The report lists decisions that have already been made and is for 

information only. 
 

 

Page 49

Agenda Item 7



Report Date: 15 November 2021 
Report Author: Kath Rees 

 

 
 

Application 
No. 
 

 Address 
 

 Proposal Valid Date 
Decision 
Date 

C/2021/0234 Former NMC Site Units 1-
4 Lakeside Blaina Road, 
Nantyglo, Brynmawr 

Application for Non-material amendment of planning 
permission C/2017/0019 (Hybrid planning application 
comprising of: Outline application for: Retail units 2, 3 
and 4 (Unit 2 Class A1 Convenience food store 
1,392sqm retail; Unit 3 Class A1 Comparison 1631sqm, 
and a for; Unit 4 flexible use (Classes A1/A2/A3 
121sqm).  A full application for restaurant (Unit 1 Class 
A3 McDonald’s 415sqm)) - to include: amendments to 
windows, doors, drive-thru booths, canopy design, 
white lining and kerb lines, enlargement of corral, 
inclusion of electricity kiosk and relocation of pedestrian 
crossing. 

30/07/21 
29/10/21 
Approved 

C/2021/0304 Former Greenacre Hostel 
& No 16 St Lukes Road, 
Tredegar 

Application for Non-material amendment to omit the 
roof structure to the external timber bin stores of 
planning permission C/2018/0191 (Construction of 22 
no. affordable homes (comprising 18 no. general needs 
affordable homes and 4 no. assisted living residential 
units) and associated works) 

29/09/21 
26/10/21 
Approved 

C/2021/0268 Coed Hirgan Farm, Crown 
Avenue, Dukestown, 
Tredegar 

Proposed single storey extension to the side elevation 
of property. 
 
 
 
 
 

07/07/21 
29/10/21 
Approved 

P
age 50



Report Date: 15 November 2021 
Report Author: Kath Rees 

 

 
 

C/2021/0282 Wauntysswg Farm, 
Abertysswg, Rhymney, 
Tredegar 

Application for Discharge of Conditions 11 (Scheme of 
historic environment mitigation) and 12 (Details of 
appointed professionally qualified archaeologist) of 
appeal decision APP/X6910/A/20/3257588 (30MW 
solar park, access and ancillary development) 
(planning permission C/2019/0280) 

10/09/21 
08/11/21 
Condition 
Discharged 

C/2021/0237 Regain Building, Mill Lane, 
Victoria, 
Ebbw Vale 

Application for Discharge of Conditions 8 (Materials), 9 
(Travel plan) of planning permission C/2020/0027 (Two 
storey building (B1 use) linked to Regain building with 
associated infilling of basement garden, access, 
parking and other infrastructure, and additional parking 
areas and service access to Regain building) 

19/08/21 
01/11/21 
Condition 
Discharged 

C/2021/0285 Wauntysswg Farm, 
Abertysswg, Rhymney, 
Tredegar 

Application for Discharge of Condition 14 (Landscaping 
scheme) of appeal decision APP/X6910/A/20/3257588 
(30MW solar park, access and ancillary development) 
(planning permission C/2019/0280) 

23/09/21 
08/11/21 
Condition 
Discharged 

C/2021/0175 Former School Site, 
Chapel Road Blaina, 
Abertillery 

Application for Discharge of Conditions: 3 - Structural 
survey and 4 - Construction method statement, relating 
to planning permission C/2020/0221 (residential 
development for 4 pairs of semi-detached houses, 8 
houses in total). 

18/05/21 
19/10/21 
Approved 

C/2021/0251 43 Attlee Avenue, 
Abertillery 

Proposed off road parking in the front garden area; and 
gates. 
 
 
 
 

31/08/21 
02/11/21 
Approved 

P
age 51



Report Date: 15 November 2021 
Report Author: Kath Rees 

 

 
 

C/2021/0302 Unit 19-20 Rising Sun 
Industrial Estate, Blaina 

Application for Discharge of Condition 6 (Reptile 
mitigation strategy) of C/2021/0145 (Erection of a new 
detached ancillary storage building over an existing 
hard standing area, replacement parking area and 
associated works) 

24/09/21 
04/11/21 
Condition 
Discharged 

C/2021/0280 8 Graig Ebbw, Rassau, 
Ebbw Vale 

Construction of single storey domestic garage 23/09/21 
01/11/21 
Approved 

C/2021/0229 22 Curre Street, Cwm, 
Ebbw Vale 

Detached domestic garage with storage facility. 06/08/21 
03/11/21 
Approved 

C/2021/0198 171 King Street, 
Brynmawr,Ebbw Vale 

Demolition of existing rear extension. Proposed 
basement construction and ground / first floor rear 
extension. 

25/06/21 
22/10/21 
Approved 

C/2021/0272 Coleg Gwent, Lime 
Avenue, Ebbw Vale 

Installation of a double sided 5G enabled digital  
information totem with two screens. The top screen will 
display a departure board for local bus services with 
local authority branding; and the bottom half of the 
totem will be an interactive screen with a search 
function with a local map of the area. 
 
 
 

14/09/21 
29/10/21 
Approved 

P
age 52



Report Date: 15 November 2021 
Report Author: Kath Rees 

 

 
 

C/2021/0226 44 Troedrhiwgwair, 
Tredegar 

Two storey domestic side extension. 05/08/21 
29/10/21 
Approved 

C/2021/0288 70 Lilian Grove, Glyncoed, 
Ebbw Vale 

Two storey extension to the rear of the house, first floor 
extension to the front and a bay window addition. 

13/09/21 
04/11/21 
Approved 

C/2021/0298 Swffryd Fach Farm Road 
Access To Swffryd Fach, 
Abertillery 

Application for prior notification of agricultural 
development for a proposed new steel framed 
agricultural building for the storage of machinery. 

30/09/21 
25/10/21 
PENDING 

C/2021/0284 Wauntysswg Farm, 
Abertysswg, Rhymney, 
Tredegar 

Application for Discharge of Condition 18 (Curlew 
Habitat Enhancement plan) of appeal decision 
APP/X6910/A/20/3257588 (30MW solar park, access 
and ancillary development) (planning permission 
C/2019/0280) 

21/09/21 
05/11/21 
Condition 
Discharged 

C/2021/0249 Greenmeadow, Tillery 
Road, Abertillery 

Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for a 
proposed single storey extension. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31/08/21 
22/10/21 
Lawful 
Development 
Certificate 
Granted 

P
age 53



Report Date: 15 November 2021 
Report Author: Kath Rees 

 

 
 

C/2020/0190 Site of former cadet hut, 
Rectory Road, Crumlin 

Dormer bungalow. 14/10/21 
02/11/21 
Approved 

 

P
age 54


	Agenda
	4 C/2021/0179 – Cwrt Glanyrafon a thir cyfagos. Safle tai gwarchod blaenorol yn Heol Rhandir, Glynebwy, NP23 5NS
	APPENDIX C_2021_0179 Former Glan yr Afon Court Site (1).pdf

	5 C/2020/0209 - 53 Lôn Llarwydd, Tredegar
	APPENDIX - 53 Larch Lane.pdf

	6 Apeliadau, Ymgynghoriadau a Diweddariad DNS, Tachwedd 2021
	7 Rhestr ceisiadau a benderfynwyd dan bwerau dirprwyedig rhwng 18 Hydref 2021 a 8 Tachwedd 2021

